

# NASCO Properties Standing Rules of the Organization

Policies of the organization through April 2022



# **Contents:**

Chapter 1: Organization and Governance

Chapter 2: Finance

Chapter 3: Property Management

Chapter 4: Development and Ownership

Chapter 5: Additional Services to Local Co-ops



# **Chapter 1: Organization and Governance**

#### 1.1 WORKING VISION STATEMENT (7/8/00)

- 1.1.1. The mission of NP is to increase the opportunities available for cooperative living throughout North America. This is primarily accomplished by the ownership of properties suitable for use by local cooperative organizations. NP will continue to expand both in order to increase the number of buildings available for use as cooperatives, and in order to assure the long term stability of the organization. NP will serve as a permanent guardian of cooperative housing stock, and as a source for guidance in development of local cooperative organizations (member cooperatives) which lease NP buildings.
- 1.1.2. NP allows smaller local cooperatives to fulfill the cooperative goal of ownership through several mechanisms:
  - 1.1.2.1 First, NP is governed by a board of directors that shall be at least 51% composed of representatives from leasing cooperative organizations. This allows members of leasing cooperatives to exert control over the decisions of NP relating to its holdings.
  - 1.1.2.2. Second, NP allows leasing cooperatives to develop local governance of cooperative life, without interference from university or profit driven real estate interests.
  - 1.1.2.3. Third, NP allows leasing cooperative members to participate in the aspects of ownership that involve responsibility and service while de-emphasizing the interpretation of ownership that involves contribution of capital. (This is intended to allow cooperative development among a group where capital is scarce but leadership is abundant.)
  - 1.1.2.4. Fourth, NP shall maintain the physical stability and value of its holdings through management of maintenance funds, thus ensuring the continued and durable availability of buildings for use by local cooperatives.
- 1.1.3. NP shall be governed according to a principle of service to the leasing cooperatives as follows:
  - 1.1.3.1. NP shall seek no profit from the lease arrangements with local cooperative organizations.
  - 1.1.3.2. NP shall always attempt to operate with thriftiness and savings that can be passed on to leasing cooperatives, and reduce financial strains on their individual members.
  - 1.1.3.3. NP shall maintain personnel with sufficient resources and expertise to guide leasing cooperatives with their development and education needs. Increase in revenue for the purpose of retaining expert staff shall come primarily through the expansion of NP holdings rather than by increasing average room rates at



member cooperatives.

- 1.1.3.4. NP is an organization committed to expansion of holdings for the use both of existing member cooperatives and of new member cooperatives. This expansion shall be funded primarily by the use of the accumulated equity of NP holdings rather than by increasing average room rates at member cooperatives.
- 1.1.4. Member cooperatives shall have an understanding of their role in NP as partners committed to the common good of all NP leasing cooperatives. Member cooperatives shall have a goal of mutual aid and undertake partial responsibility for the management and expansion of NP. Leasing of NP buildings is required for membership in NP.

#### 1.2 RELATIONSHIP TO THE NASCO FAMILY OF ORGANIZATIONS

#### 1.3 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

#### 1.3.1 Board members

- 1.3.1.1 **Certification of new board members** (11/08). Replacement NP Board Representatives will be certified by the outgoing NP board representative from their respective organization. In lieu of this, the secretary from the corresponding organization will certify the incoming NP Board Representative. The certification must be either written on paper or sent via e-mail. New NP board representatives should submit a written letter of introduction, to be included in the NP Board packet. NASCO Properties staff and board shall provide orienting materials to the new board member, and shall provide the new board member with a list of all required information that the new board member must provide to the board.
- 1.3.1.2 **Resignation of Board Members** (11/08). Any Board Member wishing to resign from the Board may do so by submitting resignation in writing to the Board of Directors either by email or by paper letter of resignation. Resignations will be accepted immediately, and the Secretary of the Board will ensure that the body represented by the resigning Board Member and the remaining board members are aware of the resignation as soon as possible.
- 1.3.1.3. Composition of the board. [See by-laws]
- 1.3.1.4. **Community representatives**. (11/08, 2/16) NASCO Properties may request one or more community members serve on its board (as long as standing rule 1.2.2.1 is not violated) to provide perspectives or technical expertise missing from the current board. Community representative serve for one year renewable terms, which begin at the spring meeting of the NASCO Properties board. Community representatives may be nominated by any seated board member, and approved by a quorum of the full board.
- 1.3.1.5 **Conflicts of Interest** (8/13) As a general rule, Board members contribute their labor to the Board and should expect no material benefit, directly or indirectly, for themselves or for members of their family, in return for their service. Under no circumstances may a Board member simultaneously serve on staff. However, in limited circumstances, the Board, on the recommendation of the NP General Manager, may approve a contract or agreement with a Board member, or an entity in which a boards member holds an ownership or investment interest, in order to perform services deemed necessary to furthering the mission of NASCO Properties. NASCO Properties will only approve such agreements provided that:
  - 1.3.1.5.1. The director or committee member has disclosed the material facts of any actual or perceived conflict of interest related to the proposed transaction or agreement to the rest of the board or committee. At the start of each board or committee meeting, directors will review the



agenda and disclose any agenda items where they have a conflict of interest.

- 1.3.1.5.2. The board or committee has reviewed and discussed the material facts with the director or committee member and has then asked this person to leave the meeting to allow the remaining members to vote on the agreement. The chair of the board or committee shall if appropriate, appoint a disinterested person or committee to investigate alternatives to the proposed transaction or arrangement.
- 1.3.1.5.3. The Board determines that NASCO Properties is entering into the agreement for its own benefit.
- 1.3.1.5.4. The agreement is fair and reasonable (i.e., the Board would offer similar terms to someone who is not a board member).
- 1.3.1.5.5. The Board approves the contract without counting the vote of the interested director, and with knowledge of the material interest. e.. how much money is paid.
- 1.3.1.5.6. Prior to approval, the Board determines that NASCO Properties could not have obtained a more advantageous arrangement with reasonable effort under the circumstances.
- 1.3.1.5.7. If the board or committee has reasonable cause to believe a member has failed to disclose actual or possible conflicts of interest, it shall inform the member of the basis for such belief and afford the member an opportunity to explain the alleged failure to disclose.
- 1.3.1.5.8. If, after hearing the response of the member and making such further investigation as may be warranted in the circumstances, the board or committee determines that the member has in fact failed to disclose an actual or possible conflict of interest, it shall take appropriate disciplinary and corrective action.
- 1.3.1.5.9. The minutes of the board and all committee with board-delegated powers shall contain:
  - 1.3.1.5.9.1 the names of the persons who disclosed or otherwise were found to have a financial interest in connection with an actual or possible conflict of interest, the nature of the financial interest, any action taken to determine whether a conflict of interest was present, and the board's or committee's decision as to whether a conflict of interest in fact existed: and
  - 1.3.1.5.9.2. The names of the persons who were present for discussions and votes relating to the transaction or arrangement, the content of the discussion, including any alternatives to the proposed transaction or arrangement, and a record of any votes taken in connection therewith.
- 1.3.1.6 **Whistleblower Protection** (8/13) This Whistleblower Protection Policy applies to all of the NASCO staff, whether full-time, part-time, or temporary employees, to all NASCO and NASCO Properties volunteers, to all who provide contract services for NASCO Properties, and to all officers and directors of the NASCO Properties board, each of whom shall be entitled to protection.
  - 1.3.1.6.1 Reporting Credible Information. A protected person shall be encouraged to report information relating to illegal practices or violations of policies of the Organization (a "Violation") that such person in good faith has reasonable cause to believe is credible. Information shall be reported to the NASCO Properties Board President unless the report relates to the President, in which case the report shall be made to the NASCO Properties Executive Committee, excluding the President, which shall be responsible to provide an alternative procedure.



- 1.3.1.6.2 Anyone reporting a Violation must act in good faith, and have reasonable grounds for believing that the information shared in the report indicates that a Violation has occurred.
- 1.3.1.6.3 Investigating Information. The Board President shall promptly investigate each such report and prepare a written report to the NP Board of Directors and the NASCO Staff Collective. In connection with such investigation all persons entitled to protection shall provide the President with credible information. All actions of the President in receiving and investigating the report and additional information shall endeavor to protect the confidentiality of all persons entitled to protection.
- 1.3.1.6.4 Confidentiality. The Organization encourages anyone reporting a Violation to identify themselves when making a report in order to facilitate the investigation of the Violation. However, reports may be submitted anonymously in writing, whether by an anonymous email or an unsigned written letter. Reports of Violations or suspected Violations will be kept confidential to the extent possible, with the understanding that confidentiality may not be maintained where identification is required by law or in order to enable the Organization or law enforcement to conduct an adequate investigation.
- 1.3.1.6.5 Protection from Retaliation. No person entitled to protection shall be subjected to retaliation, intimidation, harassment, or other adverse action for reporting information in accordance with this Policy. Any person entitled to protection who believes that they are the subject of any form of retaliation for such participation should immediately report the same as a violation of and in accordance with this Policy. Any individual within the Organization who retaliates against another individual who has reported a Violation in good faith or who, in good faith, has cooperated in the investigation of a Violation is subject to discipline, including a recommendation for termination of employment or volunteer status.
- 1.3.1.6.6. Dissemination and Implementation of Policy. This Policy shall be disseminated in writing to all affected constituencies. The Organization shall adopt procedures for implementation of this Policy, which may include:
  - documenting reported Violations;
  - working with legal counsel to decide whether the reported Violation requires review by the Compliance Officer or should be directed to another person or department;
  - keeping the board of directors [and the audit committee or other applicable committee] informed of the progress of the investigation;
  - interviewing employees;
  - requesting and reviewing relevant documents, and/or requesting that an auditor or counsel investigate the complaint; and
  - preparing a written record of the reported violation and its disposition, to be retained for a specified period of time.
- 1.3.1.6.7 The procedures for implementation of this Policy shall include a process for communicating with a complainant about the status of the complaint, to the extent that the complainant's identity is disclosed, and to the extent consistent with any privacy or confidentiality limitations. This process will follow the procedures for disclosure and confidentiality laid out in the NASCO Staff policies for the investigation of grievances.
- **1.3.2** Associated cooperatives. Cooperatives approved by the Board for a future leasing relationship with NASCO Properties shall be considered Associated Co-ops of NASCO Properties, with the following rights and



#### responsibilities:

- 1.3.2.1. NP staff shall seek to purchase property for the group when possible;
- 1.3.2.2. NP staff shall assist the group with operational problems so that they are fully prepared to manage property when purchased;
- 1.3.2.3. The Associated Co-op shall be represented informally on the Board of Directors of NASCO Properties by an "Associate Board Member" to be selected by the group. This person shall not be a member of the board as defined by the by-laws and will not have voting rights. The regularly constituted board agrees to extend all rights of full participation except for voting, however, and shall include the Associate Board Member in all board mailings and conference calls.
- 1.3.2.4. (11/08) NASCO Properties shall not be required to pay expenses for board meeting attendance or pay for NASCO Institute travel or registration until such time as an Associated Co-op becomes a Leasing Co-op.
- 1.3.2.5. There shall be a memorandum of understanding between NP and the potential member about their commitment to NP model of cooperative ownership.

#### 1.3.3 Committees

- **1.3.3.1 Finance Committee.** (11/08) The NP Executive committee shall engage in discussion on the next year's budget prior to approval by the full board, and in this context serve as the Finance Committee, which shall review budgets prior to presentation to the board. They shall report to the board on any problems that they discover and make or review proposals on financial matters as appropriate.
- 1.3.3.2 **Financial Coordinating Committee.** (11/08) Pending approval by other NASCO family boards, the NP board will appoint the NP treasurer to serve on a Financial Coordinating Committee with the treasurers of the other NASCO family boards, in order to promote communication during the financial planning process and to find budget proposals which most closely meet the needs of all NASCO organizations.

# 1.3.4. Meetings (04/22)

# 1.3.4.1 Attendance Policy

- 1.3.4.1.1 The Board may excuse a Director who is not able to attend a meeting of the Board or any committees they may serve on. The term of office of a Director is automatically terminated if this person is absent without leave of the Board for two consecutive Board meetings. The term of office of a committee member is automatically terminated if this person is absent without leave for two consecutive committee meetings or have missed more than 50% of the year's board or committee meetings without leave.
- 1.3.4.1.2 In the event of a termination, the NP Secretary will be responsible for informing the former director, updating board lists, and notifying the partner organization that appointed the director if applicable.
- 1.3.4.1.3 Absences will be excused only if the Director requests to be excused by sending a letter (which may be sent via electronic mail) to the President and Staff Liaison outlining reasons for missing the meeting. The letter must be received 48 hours before the meeting. Notice and a request for an excused absence will be shared by the director using the email list for the board or committee the absence is requested from.



- 1.3.4.1.4 When a Director requests leave, the Board is not obligated to grant leave. A Director will not be considered absent for a meeting if this person is present for at least one full decision or discussion based agenda item of the meeting.
- 1.3.4.1.5 Emergency absences will be dealt with on a case by case basis.

## 1.3.5 Meeting process

- 1.3.5.1a. In the absence of adopted procedures, meetings of the Board or of committees of the Board shall follow "Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised."
- 1.3.5.1b (11/08) At the start of each meeting of the board, the president shall state the facilitation procedures to be used for the meeting, and allow for comment before the agenda is considered
- 1.3.5.2. (3/14) Quorum shall consist of more than 1/2 of the all seated members of boards and committees. Ex-officio and non-voting board officers are not considered seated board members for the purposes of any quorum requirement
- 1.3.5.3. Motions before the Board shall be carried by simple majority vote of those present, except as otherwise specified.
- 1.3.5.4. Motions before committee of the Board shall require the number of votes equal to that committee's quorum in order to pass. (I.e., if quorum is two-thirds, and only two-thirds of the committee is present to vote, all votes must be in the affirmative. If the entire committee is present, only two-thirds of the votes must be in the affirmative.)
- 1.3.5.5. (11/08, 6/10, 2/16) Motions before the board which the board is deciding electronically and in writing shall have a stated time frame of no less than 7 days for the count of the votes included as a part of the motion, and all persons voting shall be able to communicate equally with all other persons voting, unless stated otherwise. Quorum shall consist of the entire board or committee which is considering the motion. Non-responding board members are considered to be absent from the vote, and count against quorum. Board members who explicitly respond with an abstention do not count for or against the motion, but do count towards quorum. All votes shall be approved by simple majority.
- 1.3.5.6. (11/08) Motions before the board which the board is deciding electronically and by voice shall be made in such a way that all persons voting will be able to communicate both ways with all other persons voting.
- 1.3.5.7. (11/08) Motions related to changes in the quorum shall require a quorum of 75% in order to be considered, but will pass by a simple majority of that quorum
- 1.3.5.8. (08/11, 02/16) Motions related to the amendment of the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws and the purchase of real estate shall require a quorum of 75% in order to be considered. Any property sale is subject to an absolute 2/3 majority vote of the board of directors, where an absolute majority is a majority of all votes, including votes of directors not present or declining to vote.

#### 1.4 DOCUMENTS OF THE ORGANIZATION

1.4.1 Board packets (11/99, 3/02, 11/08). All Board packets shall be made available to Board members at least



one week prior to the Board meeting, and copies shall be brought to the board meeting upon the request of Directors.

- **1.4.2 Care of documents** (7/00, 3/03) Secretary shall be responsible for maintaining articles, bylaws, standing rules, and mission/vision/identity statements, etc.
- **1.4.3 Regular review** (3/03, 11/08) The board and secretary shall review the articles, bylaws, standing rules, and mission/vision/identity statements, etc. and suggest changes at each board meeting as appropriate. The staff shall be responsible for recording changes to these documents and for making these documents available at meetings.
- **1.4.4 Authorized signatory powers** (7/15) The secretary of the board is an authorized signer for agreements authorized by the board on behalf of the organization. The position of Secretary is filled ex officio by the NASCO Properties General Manager, and is a non-voting board position.
- **1.4.5 Document Retention** (8/13) The NP Secretary shall maintain internal documents according to the following schedule:
  - 1.4.5.1 Permanent Retention: Annual audits or Financial Reviews, records of cash disbursements or receipts, depreciation records, internal financial statements (eg. Profit and Loss, Balance Sheet, or Variance Statements), General Journal entries, inventory lists, annual Corporate Filings, Board Governing Documents (eg. Bylaws, Articles, and Standing Rules, IRS Determination letter), Board and Committee Minutes, Insurance Records, Annual Budgets, and Tax Filings
  - 1.4.5.2 Ten Year Retention: Contracts, files related to litigation
  - 1.4.5.3 Seven Year Retention: Bank statements and account reconciliations, cancelled checks, insurance claims or accident reports, government reports
  - 1.4.5.4 Four Year Retention: Accounts Receivable and Accounts Payable Reports, Bank Deposit Records, Check Documentation, Contractor Tax Forms (eg. Form 1099), Invoices

# 1.5 DEMOCRATIC CONTROL

NASCO Properties intends to create and maintain a mutually beneficial and mutually agreeable relationship with NASCO. NASCO Properties shall seek to give the members of NP co-ops democratic control of the NP board and bylaws, if and when NP's tax status allows such control. In general terms, NP's bylaws should be changed to provide the following:

1.5.1. **Democratic control of representatives** - Each NP co-op organization may select its own representative to the NP board, and retains the ultimate ability to remove that representative. Each NP co-op organization may choose its own method for selecting and removing representatives, as long as that method is consistent with the principle of one vote per member.

# 1.6 REPRESENTATION



**1.6.1 - Representative to NASCO board.** The NP representative to the NASCO board shall be selected annually at the spring meeting of the NASCO Properties board. The person so named must be a member of the NASCO Properties board. (6/16)

#### 1.7 REGISTERED AGENTS

The following shall be the Registered Agents for NASCO Properties:

Jim Jones, State of Michigan David Thompson, State of California Micheal Burton, State of Illinois (11/08) Mary Ann McClure, State of Ohio Howard Lenette, State of Texas (3/03) (No one necessary in State of New York)

The Executive Committee shall be delegated authority over all future appointments of resident agents.

#### **1.8 PLANNING**

- **1.8.1 Plan for Inclusion.** The Board will adopt and annually review a NASCO Properties Plan for Inclusion. The plan will include goals and timetables for NASCO Properties to be more inclusive of persons of color, non-students and other groups. The Vice President will be primarily responsible for seeing that resources and staff time are sufficiently dedicated to implement the NASCO Properties Plan for Inclusion, and members of NP co-ops will be provided with the Vice President's contact information so they can communicate issues pertaining to non-students, people of color, and other groups. (7/03)
- **1.9 Staff Liaisons** (8/13) The NASCO Family of Organizations share a Collective Staff for their programmatic and administrative functions. The NASCO Staff Collective makes decisions by consensus and has no single "boss" who makes decisions for other staff members. In order to facilitate clear communication between board and staff, the following policies are recommended.
  - 1.9.1. The NP GM will have act as the staff liaison for the NP board. This staff person is responsible for (a) representing the opinions and needs of the staff to the board/committee, and (b) reporting board/committee activity and decisions to the Staff Collective.
  - 1.9.2. The staff liaison cannot make agreements for the rest of the Collective without their consent. A staff liaison cannot represent the opinions of staff if there is not a consensus among staff. A staff liaison may speak for themselves and make agreements for themselves.
  - 1.9.3. Staff members should be clear in communication with boards/committees when they are speaking for themselves and when they are speaking on behalf of the Collective as the staff liaison.
  - 1.9.4. Whenever possible, Board/Committee chairs will notify the staff liaison at least 3 business days before a meeting and provide them with a preliminary agenda. Providing advance notice allows staff to organize the conference call line, ensure their own attendance at the meeting, solicit input from the whole Staff Collective, and prepare information or materials for the meeting.
  - 1.9.5. If a board or committee member needs to communicate with all of the Staff directly, they should email <a href="mailto:staff@nasco.coop">staff@nasco.coop</a>. For example, this may be needed when the NP GM is unavailable, when a matter is urgent, or when an issue clearly affects several staff members.



# **Chapter 2: Finance**

**2.1 Fiscal year** (11/01) The fiscal year shall begin on May 1 and end on April 30 of each year, starting with May 1, 2002.

# 2.2 Corporate financial reporting

- **2.2.1 Type of reports** (5/97, 2/01, 2/17). The NP Board receive financial statements accompanied by reports run from accounting software including balance sheet, profit and loss, and a customer balance report. Additionally, any director may also request any report that can be generated by accounting software as needed. The board expects these financial statements monthly. In addition to reports generated by accounting software, the board expects monthly statements including narrative explanations to be available. These should include variance statements comparing actual finances to the budgeted amounts, reports showing the details of each leasing cooperative's finances, and reports showing the balances of NP's various reserves and remaining maintenance funds.
- **2.2.2 Notes** (11/6/92). Staff shall provide notes (i.e. a detailed cover letter) with any financial document presented to the board.

# 2.3 Reporting by cooperatives

**2.3.1 Member Accounts Receivable Reports** (November 12-13, 1994, 2/01, 11/08). If jointly-managed co-ops fail to make NP lease payments, they may be required to submit updated information regarding all charges to and payments on individual member receivable accounts to the NASCO Properties office twice per month. These reports are due at the NP office on the 10th and 25th day of each month.

# 2.4 Budgeting and allocation

**2.4.1 Contribution to overhead** (2/01). It shall be NP's goal to distribute overhead costs equitably among NP leasing co-ops. When possible, additional overhead shall be supported through expansion.

# 2.4.2 Reserve Funding Policies (11/99, 3/03)

- 2.4.2.1 Until board approved reserves are reached, any surpluses will be allocated to operating or replacement reserves.
- 2.4.2.2. Each leasing co-op shall provide funding each year for a specific Maintenance Reserve. The amount shall be based on a replacement study ("life-cycle study"), with a goal of minimizing the need to borrow for capital improvements. In no case shall the amount added to the reserve falls below 2% of annual revenues, as specified by lender agreements.
  - 2.4.2.2.1. (4/12) NASCO Properties shall also maintain an Accessibility Reserve, funded out of the general operating budget. This reserve is to be used for improvements to the physical accessibility of NP properties. Any proposed accessibility improvement not consistent with the



Americans with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines (ADAAG) will require the approval of the NP board.

- 2.4.2.3. Each leasing co-op shall provide funding for an overall NASCO Properties Operating Reserve. The amount contributed shall be increased incrementally to achieve a debt service coverage ratio of 1.2 by the 2007-08 fiscal year. Exceptions or extensions may be approved by the Board during the annual budget process.
  - 2.4.2.3.1. (11/08) The NP operating reserve shall be at least 25% of the annual operating budget and at most 50% of the annual operating budget
- 2.4.2.4. Use of reserves:
  - 2.4.2.4.1. Corporate losses shall reduce the Operating Reserve.
  - 2.4.2.4.2. Long-term receivables from the leasing co-ops shall reduce the Operating Reserve, and payments on these debts shall be made into the Reserve.
  - 2.4.2.4.3. Any discretionary allocations exceeding \$5000 from the Operating or Maintenance Reserves shall be approved by the NASCO Properties Board of Directors. Non-discretionary expenses would include those issues which are mandated by legal authorities, lenders, or insurance providers, or those which directly impact health and safety or occupancy. (7/12)
- 2.4.2.5. Exceptions may be negotiated on a case by case basis with Master Lease co-ops.
- **2.4.3 Integrity of the Budget.** Budget revisions shall not alter charges to leasing cooperatives during the term of the current fiscal year. (3/02)
- **2.4.4 Cost of loans prior to new budget period.** If the Board determines that NP has to borrow money for maintenance on a house when it is not desirable to use maintenance reserves, NP will cover the costs until lease charges can be increased. (7/02)
- **2.4.5 Capital plans** (2/01, 3/03). Capital repair and replacement plans shall be prepared by the General Manager with input from each jointly managed co-op. Capital plans should be requested from master lease co-ops.
- **2.4.6 Payment for local management** (6/99, 3/03). As a course of action, when a jointly-managed co-op wants to hire its own management staff, NP staff will work with the house to determine by what amount NASCO Properties can afford to pay the leasing co-op for local management. This amount shall be budgeted as a management fee to the leasing co-op and shall be a part of the overhead budget.
- **2.4.7 Allowance for vacancies** (3/98, 3/03, 6/10, 2/16). The vacancy reserve collected by NP leasing coops will be set at 5% of gross lease charges, and will be held and monitored by NP, with monthly reports on each coop's vacancy reserves. The leasing coop is free to collect a higher amount for vacancy reserves. Lower vacancy reserves must approved by the NP board. NP may apply funds from each leasing coop's vacancy reserves against any unpaid balance of that coop.
- **2.4.8 Late Payment Fees** (8/13). In order to maintain the integrity of the budget, there must be a timely payment of lease charges by all leasing cooperatives. NP also exists in order to support the stable operation of each of the individual cooperatives. Any coop that cannot make their lease payment by the due date must contact the NP



GM ahead of the due date in order to explain the financial position of the leasing coop, and to give an idea of when the lease payment will be made. In the event that a leasing coop gives advance notice of an expected late payment, late fees may be waived. Any coop that neither pays by the due date nor gives notice of late payment may be charged a late fee as laid out in the NP Model Lease.

**2.4.9 Automated lease payments** (04/22) – In order to facilitate the timely payment of lease charges from leasing cooperatives, each local leasing cooperative will authorize NP to withdraw lease payments directly from the leasing cooperative's local bank account via ACH or an equivalent method. In the event that a leasing co-op's local bank does not support ACH or other wire transfers, or imposes a fee of more than \$15 per transaction, automated monthly checks printed and mailed directly by the local bank is an acceptable alternative if approved by the NP General Manager.

## 2.5 Mandated cooperative policies (2/01, 3/03)

These policies shall take effect if NASCO Properties is forced to assume the management functions of a jointly-managed co-op. These policies shall be enforced in accordance with state and local laws.

**2.5.1 Member shares and security deposits.** (3/02) Each leasing cooperative shall be required to hold security deposits or member shares in accordance with local and state laws.

#### 2.6 ACCOUNTS AND MONEY MANAGEMENT.

#### 2.6.1 Check signing (7/03, 11/08)

- 2.6.1.1. Allow the NASCO Properties and Development staff members to be a single signer on all checking and money market accounts.
- 2.6.1.2. The NASCO Director of Operations shall have emergency signing power.
- 2.6.1.3. Any maintenance checks or expenses for governance shall be approved by the NASCO staff member responsible for work with the property where the work was done or the meeting was held.
- 2.6.1.4. (11/08) For all bank or credit union accounts, a board officer be allowed to look at the check images and cancelled checks periodically, to see that no unusual checks are being written
- 2.6.1.5. (11/08) A list of check shall be generated monthly and made available to the Treasurer.

#### 2.7 EQUITY DEVELOPMENT AND USE

# 2.7.1 Equity from refinancing (7/01)

- 2.7.1.1. This entire plan is contingent upon NP obtaining 501(c)(3) status from the IRS; otherwise, NP is not allowed to maintain its own development fund accounts.
- 2.7.1.2. In the normal course of refinancing existing NP properties, the general manager shall determine whether a given property has enough equity to contribute to the national equity pool.
- 2.7.1.3. If this is the case, the amount of the new loan shall be as large as reasonably possible to best accomplish this goal. The amortization of the new loan shall be set to keep lease payments of the subject



property approximately the same as they had been prior to the refinancing, notwithstanding any additional borrowing for capital improvement projects of the subject property which might be part of the original refinancing plan.

- 2.7.1.4. Exceptions can be made to the guidelines of point #2 in extenuating circumstances; for example, if the rents for the subject are relatively high compared to the local market, resulting in difficulties keeping the house full. In such cases, NP can consider the option of new loan and amortization combinations which could actually reduce the lease payments for the subject property.
- 2.7.1.5. When cash for the national equity pool is successfully drawn under the process of point #2, it shall be maintained in liquid, interest-bearing investment accounts as determined by the general manager. Interest earned in such account(s) shall remain part of the equity pool.
- 2.7.1.6. The primary purpose of the equity pool shall be a source of capital for new NP developments. The cash will serve as equity contributions for new development projects, helping to increase the possibilities of affordable co-op development projects in the future.
- 2.7.1.7. Under certain conditions, the equity pool may be available to finance projects at existing NP properties. For example, if an existing property needs capital for a major improvement project, and its own maintenance reserve has been depleted and it would not be practical to refinance that particular property to obtain the cash, the equity pool can serve as a source of capital. However, use of the fund in such cases will be considered a loan to the subject property, and it must repay the NP equity pool at a reasonable interest rate. (The rate shall be similar to what the co-op would be charged if its own property were refinanced to fund the improvement project.) No more than half the capital in the equity pool may be used for existing properties in this fashion.

# **Chapter 3: Management**

#### 3.1 TYPE OF MANAGEMENT

#### 3.1.1 Jointly-Managed And Master-Lease Leasing Cooperatives (11/1/91, 2/01)

All Cooperatives leasing property from NASCO Properties shall be considered, for the purposes of NASCO Properties internal policy decisions, either "Jointly-Managed" or "Master Lease" co-ops. Specific lease and/or management agreements with the cooperatives shall detail the specific arrangements. All projects shall initially be considered "Jointly-Managed" until the board finds that their internal management capabilities warrant that they become a "Master Lease" project.

- 3.1.1.1. "Jointly-Managed" co-ops shall receive, for management fees, comprehensive property management assistance. This management assistance shall be specified in a lease agreement and may include (but not be limited to): paying all property-related expenses, refinancing debt, providing fire and liability insurance, providing for major repairs and rehabilitation, supervising maintenance, receiving board meeting minutes, etc. Assisting in project budgeting, performing lender reporting, etc. (amended 7/01)
- 3.1.1.2. "Master-Lease" co-ops shall be those projects which have hired on-site managers. NASCO Properties shall, upon this designation, reduce its involvement in management to be primarily oversight of property-management. This oversight shall be specified in a lease agreement and may include (but not be limited to): managing property-debt, oversight of maintenance reserves, receiving maintenance reports, receiving occupancy reports, receiving board meeting minutes, oversight of budgeting, general oversight and



assistance as necessary. Additional services may be provided, according to the mutual agreement of the coop and NASCO Properties.

3.1.1.3. Jointly-Managed co-ops shall be delegated increasing responsibilities as they increase in staff time and expertise. All changes in the leases and management agreements shall be approved by both the NASCO Properties board and the board of the leasing cooperative and shall be contingent on adequate performance over time. (7/01)

#### 3.1.2 Examples of Master Lease Cooperatives

- **3.1.3 "Hybrid –Hybrid" model of development and management** (6/22-23/96, 2/01). The following was adopted by the board:
  - 3.1.3.1. NP co-ops which have become large and stable enough to hire on-site managers shall graduate into the "Master-Lease" phase. Such sites shall have significantly high degrees of autonomy and independence from the central organization. NP shall develop a new section of bylaws to ensure the autonomy and local control of Master-Lease systems; these bylaws shall serve as a "Bill of Rights" for the Master-Lease cooperatives. While NP will hold the title to the properties, all of the effective control of the cooperatives (budgets, rent structures, policies, maintenance projects, membership guidelines, etc.) shall rest with the individual systems. (removed text and adapted it into 3.1.3.4 below)
  - 3.1.3.2. Development which occurs through "normal channels" shall result in NP-owned properties. However, nothing will prevent local co-ops from attempting to develop new properties on their own if they so desire. Therefore, co-ops which are sufficiently dedicated to the cause will have the opportunity to become "Hybrid Systems."
  - 3.1.3.3. All equity built up in NP owned properties shall be designated for the improvement and expansion of NP co-ops; i.e. the sole purpose of NP equity shall be the perpetuation of NP. All decisions of NP equity shall be made by the National Board. Development projects near current NP co-ops shall have first priority to utilize NP equity.
  - 3.1.3.4 NP's responsibility to intervene in a co-op's operations if the co-op fails to make scheduled lease payments to NP in a timely manner, or if specific signs of trouble or severe difficulties become apparent. This process is described in section 5 of these policies.

## 3.2 MAINTENANCE MANAGEMENT

# 3.2.1 Responsibilities for maintenance (11/1/91)

Property rehabilitation, major maintenance, and minor maintenance decisions fall into the following categories:

# 3.2.1.1. Initial Rehabilitation Period:

Staff is responsible for the initial rehabilitation and rehab decisions of properties following purchase. The purpose of this rehab and maintenance is to bring the building up to code and to make changes or repairs that improve the space for use as a cooperative. This specifically includes decisions relating to the use of space, safety, code compliance, and aesthetic considerations. Staff will solicit input from future members regarding rehabilitation priorities, but shall remain responsible for prioritization.

## 3.2.1.2. Subsequent Rehabilitation Work (3/03):



The board is responsible for approving all ensuing rehabilitation. Rehabilitation includes any structural or use changes to the building. Staff shall work with Jointly-Managed co-ops to conduct a Yearly Maintenance and Capital Needs Assessment which will appraise rehabilitation and major maintenance needs and timelines for addressing those needs. Staff shall manage or delegate management for all rehab projects, in Jointly-Managed co-ops, upon the project's approval by the board. Projects will be charged for expenses on any rehabilitation proposal and project.

#### 3.2.1.3. Subsequent Major Maintenance: (3/03)

- 3.2.1.3.1. In Jointly-Managed co-ops: Major maintenance includes all non-rehab maintenance expenditures over \$1,000 for repair or replacement. Major maintenance is approved by the NASCO Properties board, in the form of a capital budget for each leasing co-op, each year. Emergency major maintenance may be approved by NASCO staff. Staff shall fully manage any major maintenance project (emergency or scheduled). This management includes: making expenditures, contractor hiring, and receiving and using member labor for the project. Staff time and expense would be billed according to the prevailing billing policies. Staff may, at its discretion, allow the co-op to manage parts of major maintenance projects.
- 3.2.1.3.2. In Master-Leased Co-ops: Major Maintenance includes any non-rehab maintenance expenditures for that property. Notification is required prior to contracting for work on major maintenance projects, and no work shall be done if there is an objection by staff of NASCO Properties. Co-op shall fully manage the project unless it desires otherwise.

# **3.2.1.4.** Minor Maintenance (3/03)

- 3.2.1.4.1. Minor Maintenance includes all repair and replacement expenditures under \$1,000 and within the minor maintenance budget for the house. Tasks which may require skilled contractors shall be managed by the co-op unless the co-op requests the staff to do so. Master-Leased co-ops shall perform minor maintenance at their own discretion, and without management assistance from NASCO Properties.
- 3.2.1.4.2. If staff feels that a minor maintenance item is a particularly high priority, it may require that a co-op repair it. Staff may only do so if the minor maintenance item is required by law, threatens revenue, safety or may jeopardize lender relations.
- **3.2.2 Maintenance of property and reporting** (11/91, 3/03, 11/08). For reasons of economics and the image of group equity housing cooperatives, all NASCO Properties owned properties shall be kept in a sanitary, clean, and well-maintained condition.
  - 3.2.2.1. **Standard of upkeep.** NASCO Properties projects shall keep their properties in a sanitary and clean condition.
  - 3.2.2.2. **Timely maintenance.** Staff and NASCO Properties projects shall provide for the timely performance and completion of all maintenance with respect to NASCO Properties-owned properties.
    - 3.2.2.2.1 **Monthly reporting.** (11/08) All NASCO Properties projects shall operate under management agreements which provide for the monthly reporting of maintenance needed and performed, and shall receive monthly requests for information from each location for the coordination of staff efforts and for reporting to the NP board.



- 3.2.2.2.2 **No reimbursement without reports.** NASCO Properties shall not reimburse projects for appropriate maintenance expenditures in the absence of such reports.
- 3.2.2.2.3. **Inspections.** NASCO Properties staff, or appointed representatives, shall perform regular inspections of Jointly-Managed co-op providing a schedule of necessary maintenance to be performed. All tasks shall have a budget and a designation of the responsible party. If a project is responsible for a task, and does not complete it according to the schedule, staff is directed to compete the task through contract labor. At this time, staff has the option to perform other tasks assigned to the project, if the project is not interested in them. Projects may be charged for staff-time for each task that staff takes over for a project.
- 3.2.3. **Definition of Maintenance** (6/14) The use of NASCO Properties maintenance funds shall be limited to projects directly related to the upkeep of property. This includes any structural or mechanical systems related to the habitability of the property as well as any expenses required for the health and safety of residents. This also includes any projects required for code compliance, requirements set out by lenders to NP, or requirements to continue property or liability insurance coverage.
  - 3.2.3.1 Maintenance funds may be used for materials and equipment related to maintenance, including tools that the coop may use for other projects in the future.
  - 3.2.3.2 Maintenance funds may be used for labor or service fees paid to a third party. If labor or service fees are being paid to a member of the NP board, the cooperative, or the cooperative's board, this payment must comply with policy 1.3.1.5 (Conflicts of Interest), and be approved by the NP General Manager.
  - 3.2.3.3 In the event of a planned Labor Holiday where coop members are contributing their time to a larger set of goals, it is reasonable that maintenance funds may be used to make modest food purchases. The goal of this policy is not to use maintenance funding for food, but to allow the coop to focus on maintenance projects, and thereby save maintenance funding over the amount that would have been paid to outside labor.
- 3.2.4 **Amenities** (6/14) NASCO Properties maintenance funds (including capital improvements, minor maintenance, or maintenance reserve funds) shall not be used for amenities which cannot otherwise be shown to be covered under policy 3.2.3. NP Leasing coops are encouraged to create their own amenities budgets for social events, recreational expenses, or aesthetic improvements. Amenities include (but are not limited to):
  - 3.2.4.1 Kitchen appliances or equipment beyond ovens, cooking surfaces, prep surfaces, plumbing, and refrigeration
  - 3.2.4.2 Any gardening or landscaping not directly required to soil drainage, building foundations, or health/safety/code issues
  - 3.2.4.3 Recreational equipment, including audio/video equipment, and sports or game equipment
  - 3.2.4.4 Computer or networking equipment
  - 3.2.4.5 Furniture and decorations



#### 3.3 LOCAL ASSISTANCE

- **3.3.1 Local advisory groups** (2/12/00, 7/03). NASCO Properties staff and Board members in each location where we have properties may recruit volunteer community members for an NP Advisory Group to be approved by the local cooperative. These groups shall meet with staff, the Board member and any other interested members at the time of each site visit by the staff, and shall meet with the local cooperative by request of the group. Staff shall give each advisor an orientation to the organization and shall send to all Advisors the annual report.
- 3.3.2 **Internships** (6/14) NASCO Properties shall budget for a paid internship each year. The goal of this allocation is to assist NP leasing coops in stabilizing their operations or achieving goals beyond their current reach.
  - 3.3.2.1 The highest priority for internship funding shall be stabilizing an NP leasing coop in the event of a crisis. Examples of a crisis that would be appropriate for an internship include persistent vacancies or member debt beyond the coop's vacancy reserves, disruptive turnover among the membership or officers of a house or coop, or an inability to comply with the legal or financial requirements of the coop.
  - 3.3.2.2 Internships may also be funded through the NP budget for other purposes to be decided upon by the NP board, but not to the exclusion of an internship as described in section 3.3.2.1 of these Standing Rules.
  - 3.3.2.3 Proposals for the use of internship funding will ideally come from NP leasing coops or board members, rather than from staff. After the fall NP board meeting, NP board members are encouraged to promote this option to determine whether there is local interest in hosting an intern, in order to inform the budgeting process in the spring.
  - 3.3.2.4 In the event that a leasing coop proposes an internship, the coop should submit minutes of a meeting of the general membership or board of that coop formally approving the internship. In the event that an internship is proposed by the board or staff, the leasing coop receiving the internship will be given the option to formally approve any materials related to this job description and give feedback to the NP board.
  - 3.3.2.5 Proposals for an internship using NP funding should include a job description with specific goals and duties, as well as a timeline for reporting on progress. Proposals should also include a statement of the goal for the internship. It is also recommended that an NP Leasing Coop that proposes to host an intern be prepared to offer room and board to supplement any stipend coming from NP funds.
  - 3.3.2.6 Any intern funded by NP must report to the NP General Manager as well as the members of the NP Leasing Coop. The NP General Manager is responsible for reporting to the NP board on any internship funded through NP's internship budget.
  - 3.3.2.7 The NP board may approve an internship meant to improve NP as the central organization, rather than a leasing coop. This cannot be to the exclusion of an internship as described in sections 3.3.2.1 or 3.3.2.2 of these Standing Rules.
  - 3.3.2.8 Unused internship funding shall carry over from one fiscal year to the next.

#### 3.4 NASCO PROPERTIES STAFF



- **3.4.1 Management by NASCO** (7/03). Organizational management shall be done by NASCO or another person or organization at the discretion of the Board.
- **3.4.2 NASCO Executive Director to appoint NP General Manager** (7/03, 11/08). For the duration of any contract for management with NASCO, a staff member shall be appointed by the NASCO Executive Director to be the General Manager of NASCO Properties.
- **3.4.3 Staffing Contract (Contract for Services) Annual Review.** (6/10) At each summer meeting of the NP board, a review of the Staffing Contract between NP and NASCO Education will be reviewed, including the job description of the NASCO Properties General Manager. The purpose of the review will be to ensure that the terms of the contract reflect the changing needs of the two organizations, as the contract runs in perpetuity.

# **Chapter 4: Development and Ownership**

- **4.1 Development Model** (6/22-23/96). See text in section 3.13 above.
- **4.2 Authorization of G.M. to make purchase offers** (10/29/99). The General Manager shall be given standing authority to make purchase offers on property. Any such offers shall be contingent on approval of the Board of Directors.
- **4.3 Perpetual Ownership by NP.** (6/10) NP intends to serve as a permanent owner to the houses it buys. NP does not anticipate selling off houses to local co-ops. Rather, for the properties owned by NP, NP envisions the Master-Leasing option as the most independent stage of an NP-owned property's development. Any coops which operate in partnership with NP are also encouraged to consider purchasing or leasing properties which are not owned by NP.

# **Chapter 5: Additional Services to Local Co-ops**



#### 5.00 Definition of Crisis / Reset Assistance

- 5..0.1 All of the Co-ops that are associated as part of NASCO Properties rely on each other for support in matters of finance, education, membership, maintenance, and physical development. If the situation at any one Co-op becomes such that it will adversely affect all the other Co-ops and damage the stability of the NASCO Properties as a whole, then that Co-ops must be considered a candidate for a Reset intervention.
- 5.0.2 The NASCO Properties board reserves the right to assist any member co-ops in crisis. In the cases of Reset Assistance, NASCO Properties officers are given the authority, on behalf of the organization, to intervene and assist such a co-op. This assistance will last only until the co-op is out of the crisis situation as defined by the Board at the time this policy is invoked.
- 5.0.3 The Board, with a two-thirds majority vote and standard quorum, may declare a co-op on Reset Assistance status on the recommendation of respective officers and staff and with the input of the candidate co-op at a meeting of the Board.

#### 5.0.4 PROCEDURES FOR A CO-OP ON RESET ASSISTANCE

- a. The following procedures are suggested for co-ops when under Reset Assistance
  - i. Ask the locally elected NASCO Properties Board Representative to advise or facilitate at co-op meetings.
    - i. Receive input and resources from an outside professional communicator, which might include a member of the NASCO staff or a trained mediator.
    - ii. Schedule meeting time dedicated to creating Community Agreements among members of the co-op to address the conflicts or issues. NASCO staff can work with members to facilitate this process, including offering trainings to members on creating these agreements before beginning
    - iii. Board officers, NP General Manager, and any other needed parties, shall help teach NASCO Properties policy, create new policy, hold in-House workshops, other educational



events, and/or any other means to build stronger communication and member responsibility within the House.

- b. If this does not work:
  - ii. Draft a proposal to the NP board for the use of internship funding to bring in help beyond member labor or local staff resources
    - i. Begin new recruitment for the co-op or affected house.
    - ii. Re-membership the co-op or the affected house
    - iii. Any other remedies provided under these policies or the NASCO Properties Lease and Management Agreement
- c. All of these procedures shall be strictly communicated with the Board and the Board shall further advise any concerns or direction that a co-op under Reset Assistance: Education may need to take.

# **5.1 Reset Assistance Scenario: Maintenance**

- 5.1.1 All co-ops within NASCO Properties are required to be kept reasonably maintained and clean by their residents with the support of staff. To ensure this, the NASCO Properties General Manager or another designated staff member shall conduct inspections of each co-op.
- 5.1.2 Following a property visit, a report detailing maintenance issues will be shared with both the co-op and the NASCO Properties board. Any issues requiring urgent attention will be noted. Urgent issues are defined as problems affecting the health and safety of members, items required for code compliance, or repairs demanded by lenders or insurers for the co-op's properties.
  - d. Urgent maintenance items will be listed with deadlines for next steps.
  - e. Co-ops that do not respond by taking necessary steps by the deadline will be given a written warning and an offer for assistance completing the needed steps.



- f. Co-ops which go more than 30 days past deadlines without completing urgent maintenance work or presenting a timeline and evidence of progress may be placed on Reset Assistance by a vote of the NASCO Properties board.
- 5.1.3 If a Co-op fails to address the required urgent maintenance tasks after two consecutive inspections, then that co-op shall be reviewed by the Executive Committee for consideration of Reset: Maintenance. A full report will be submitted from the Executive Committee to the Board.
- 5.1.4 When a House is declared as needing Reset Assistance, NASCO Properties may hire a Maintenance Manager to be selected and supervised by the NASCO Properties General Manager at a contracted amount, to serve until the Co-op has successfully resolved the urgent maintenance issues.
  - g. The contracted pay of Maintenance Manager may be funded from the affected co-op's maintenance budget, through the NASCO Properties internship budget, or through NASCO Properties operating reserves at the discretion of the NASCO Properties General Manager at a rate equivalent to the livable wage for the co-ops location. The livable wage will be determined by the MIT Living Wage calculator, or by another metric that may be determined by the board but which shall not be less than \$3 above the local minimum wage. The position shall be funded for a maximum of 15 hours per week.
  - h. Houses must restrict any functions that may jeopardize any repairs/renovations performed by the Maintenance Manager or House Maintenance Officer.
- 5.1.5 Rental properties not owned by NASCO Properties are not included in Reset Assistance: Maintenance guidelines.
- 5.1.6 The above actions may be appealed to and rescinded by a two-thirds vote of the Board.

# 5.2 Reset Assistance: Membership

5.2.1 Reset Assistance: Membership is the measure to assist a co-op that is suffering from high vacancies, such that would infringe on the Co-op's ability to remain a participating member within NASCO Properties. Occupancy for each co-op will be documented in the NASCO Properties annual budget. Occupancy targets will document the total capacity (number of beds) at each co-op, and will set quarterly recruitment targets for each co-op that are specific to their housing market or local academic calendar.



- 5.2.2 When a Co-op's membership falls below 70% of the regular NASCO Properties-assessed capacity the following shall occur:
  - i. Co-op membership policies and new member recruitment shall fall under the authority of the NASCO Properties General Manager, subject to review by the NASCO Properties Executive Committee.
  - j. In the event that NASCO Properties assumes responsibility for approving membership applications or renewing leases, these decisions will be made in communication with the members in good standing at the local co-op and will be available for review by both the NASCO Properties board and the board of the local co-op.
  - k. Other measures as advised by the NP General Manager and approved by the Board shall go into effect.
- 5.2.3 EXCEPTIONS If the co-op continues to make budgeted lease payments during a period of high vacancy, then Reset Assistance: Membership cannot apply except by two-thirds vote of the Board.
- 5.2.4 These measures shall cease when a co-op reaches 90% of its total assessed NASCO Properties occupancy levels and the co-op can normally cover NASCO Properties assessments.

## 5.2.5 RECRUITMENT UNDER RESET ASSISTANCE: MEMBERSHIP

Membership applications to the co-op will be reviewed by the NASCO Properties General Manager or any designated committee of the NASCO Properties board and will be considered under the following guidelines:

- I. This applicant must not be a former member who was not in good standing and must not have an unpaid balance to the co-op
- m. This Member will become responsible for all charges required of Members of the co-op and will sign the same lease and operate under the same policies as all other members of the co-op receiving Reset Assistance.
- n. All applicants shall be carefully screened by the NASCO Properties General Manager or any designated committee of the NASCO Properties board to determine their suitability to the living situation of the affected



co-op. This process will comply with all relevant Fair Housing laws and all decisions will be documented and available to the members of the NASCO Properties board and the co-op receiving Reset Assistance

- o. Priority shall be given to those in non-singles, to those willing to sign a lease lasting at least one year. and to those who have skills that are particularly needed by the co-op.
- p. These provisions will cease when a House has reached a level of membership high enough to no longer be considered impairment on the grounds of insufficient membership.

## 5.3 Reset Assistance: Education

#### 5.3.1 DEFINITION OF RESET ASSISTANCE: EDUCATION

- q. Reset Assistance: Education is to be seen as a measure to provide further support and help to a co-op, rather than seen as a punishment. Reset Assistance: Education is the concern for co-ops that have shown or expressed a lack of skills among members needed to operate the co-op.. This lack of how to function as a co-op may be seen through a lack a failure to respond to communication from NASCO Properties, difficulties at a co-op to follow the local policies, or multiple members demanding mediation or member reviews, or citing harassment within the co-op as defined in the NASCO harassment policies.
- r. This sort of a breakdown within a co-op can adversely affect particular individuals within a co-op and can become severe enough to harm other co-ops within NASCO Properties or to harm NASCO Properties central operations and governance. affecting other areas and committees within NASCO Properties. Often some sort of interaction and outside help may be needed to correct and prevent larger problems from occurring. Reset Assistance: Education is a way for the NASCO Properties to be further aware that a concern or a problem may exist in a co-op and work with members to bring information, training resources, and consensus building to a co-op in need..
- s. Reset Assistance: Education, as a policy, is meant to remain as general as possible to encompass any educational or communication problem or concern that may arise at any level with the NASCO Properties. This policy is meant to help strengthen our co-ops and advance the missions of NASCO Properties and participating co-ops and not meant to hinder in any way.

## 5.3.2 REASONS FOR EXTENSION OF SUPPORT UNDER Reset Assistance: EDUCATION



t. Concerns for co-op level education or communication problems may be defined as an internal concern dealing with one or a few members, particularly where those issues overlap with the policies or codes of conduct used by a local co-op. The concern for the co-op at this level may not come into conflict on a larger NASCO Properties-wide level, but may be a concern to the successful functioning of the local co-op. The following are a list of some suggested internal House concerns that any individual House member(s) may have. Further solutions on how to address these issues are explained in the procedures under 8.03.02 (a).

## Internal House Concerns

- House jobs not being completed
- Chronic lack of contested elections
- Chronic lack of regular co-op or house meetings
- Chronic lack of quorum at meetings
- a. Concerns for more extreme co-op level breakdown of communication and education can occur in many ways. At this level the co-op may be suffering problems that tremendously affect the entire co-op or one of its houses and has an effect upon NASCO Properties in some way(s). The following is a list of suggested co-op concerns that affect the co-op or one of its houses on a larger level and affect NASCO Properties on a larger scale:

# External House Concerns

- Local bylaws, policies, codes of conduct are lost or intentionally violated
- Turnover above 50% year to year or a lack of new member orientation
- Harassment or assault
- Violations of local laws or regulations
- Problems with the police or neighbors
- Late or no lease payments
- Break-ins and thefts
- Vacancy rate above 20% in the local co-op or any of its individual houses

#### 5.3.3 PROCEDURES TO BEGIN RESET ASSISTANCE: EDUCATION

- u. Individual members of a co-op or one of its individual houses may feel that some issues may be of concern and need to be further addressed by the entire co-op. The individual members are suggested to try the following procedures before approaching the NASCO Properties Board:
  - iv. Address the issue(s) at a local co-op or house meeting. If this is an uncomfortable measure, then;



- 1. Address the local representative to the NASCO Properties board and/or any other corporate officers and staff. Ask for suggestions/information to solve or work out the problem.
- 2. The individuals shall address the co-op using this further information or invite the local representative to the NASCO Properties board other corporate officers to attend a meeting and advise members on how to solve the problem
- 3. It is also suggested that the co-op, corporate officers and/or staff look into the possibility of bringing in an outside resource person who can deal with these problem issues on a professional and trained level (e.g., another member of NASCO staff, mediator, or any other professional communicator).
- 4. The corporate officers/staff shall discuss the issue(s) and decide mutually by all parties that the problem(s) needs or doesn't need to be further addressed.
- 5. If it is mutually felt that this issue doesn't need to be further addressed, the original corporate officers/staff and the original concerned co-op member(s) shall follow up on the concerns after a four week period.
- 6. If the issue has not been solved through the above steps or if the co-op mutually agrees with the corporate officers/staff that there is a larger problem,
- 7. The concern(s) is taken to the Board as a discussion item, only with consent and further communication of both corporate officers/staff or the written concern of at least three co-op members.
- a. The Board will make the final decision to extend Reset Assistance: Education to a co-op. The NASCO Properties General Manager (and other corporate officers/staff, if needed) will be responsible for addressing problem issues and will work closely with the co-op.

5.3.4 WHEN TO REMOVE A CO-OP FROM RESET ASSISTANCE: EDUCATION



- v. A co-op may be removed from Reset Assistance: Education when the goals that are created by the co-op, the Board, and the NASCO Properties officers, and staff, are reached in a way that is agreeable to all parties. This includes documenting compliance with any policies cited as a part of the issue, or documenting any Community Agreements that may have been created during the resolution of this process
- w. After the decision is to be made to remove a co-op from Reset Assistance: Education, this co-op shall be monitored by the NP General Manager and locally elected NASCO Properties Board Representative

# **5.4 Reset Assistance: Finance**

- 5.4.1 Any co-op with an unpaid balance to NASCO Properties may be asked to participate in the Reset Assistance process. The co-op will be asked to provide reports on occupancy levels, member balances, and the status of any payment plans as a precursor to **Reset Assistance: Finance** based on the following process:
  - x. NASCO Properties may request reports from the local co-op on current member balances, a list of all payment plans with members noting any which are not current, the number of current vacancies, the end dates of the current member leases, and a list of any other unpaid debts the co-op may owe that are not to NP
  - y. A late form or paperwork not submitted within two weeks of the original deadline will be considered a failure to submit financial information.
  - z. A co-op that fails to submit requested financial information twice within one year may be placed on financial probation.
- 5.4.2 The conditions of financial probation are the following:
  - aa. All co-op books shall be immediately turned over to the NASCO Properties General Manager who will report to the NASCO Properties Executive Committee.
    - a. All co-op bookkeeping will be done under the supervision of the NASCO Properties General Manager available for inspection by the NASCO Properties Executive Committee.
    - b. The NASCO Properties board or General Manager may choose a Co-op Finance Coordinator to create and maintain the records required of the local co-op. Coordinators shall:
      - v. Serve in their roles for a period of three months, subject to supervision and renewable at the discretion of the NASCO Properties board or General Manager.



- vi. Be trained by the corporate officers and staff.
- vii. Report to the Board every two weeks on the status of the co-op.
- viii. Report any unpaid lease charges or unexplained expenses at the co-op
- ix. Have access to the bookkeeping and bank statements of the co-op
- 5.4.3 All co-ops not submitting their books to the NASCO Properties office within two weeks of notification of their financial probation and/or a co-op that does not replace their Treasurer within 30 days of notification of financial probation will be declared Reset Assistance: Finance.
- 5.4.4 The probationary period will continue until a new local Treasurer has been elected and trained, with all lease charges and applicable loan or payment plan charges to NASCO Properties being current.
- 5.4.5 Reset Assistance will be invoked for a co-op on Financial Probation of one of the following happens:
  - bb. Failure of the co-op to create a budget for the current fiscal year
    - a. A co-op's membership is such that regular lease charges to NASCO Properties cannot be paid by the current House membership.
    - b. The NP Board declares the co-op to be in fiscal crisis due to extenuating circumstances, including the other issues covered elsewhere under this crisis response policy
    - c. The co-op has a current balance due to NASCO Properties equal to or greater than three months of NASCO Properties lease payments under the current NASCO Properties budget where that debt is not already part of a documented payment plan with NP.
- 5.4.6 The following measures will be taken with any co-op declared Reset Assistance: Finance:
  - cc. The co-op's finances shall fall under the authority of the NASCO Properties General Manager and the NP Board.
  - dd. All co-op members shall be put on a payment plan approved by the NP Treasurer, and the General Manager.
  - ee. The NASCO Properties General Manager and NASCO Properties Board shall have the authority to enforce local co-op lease agreements including lease termination for local co-op members in violation of their leases.
  - ff. The NASCO Properties General Manager and NASCO Properties Board shall have the authority to renew local co-op member leases, decline to renew member leases, create legally allowable membership criteria including assessing ability to pay in compliance with any applicable fair housing or landlord/tenant laws, and be able to sign new member leases on behalf of the local co-op.



- 5.4.7 The measures shall stay in effect until the co-op has developed a working budget, all members are current on rents or complying with approved payment plans, and the co-op is able to make current monthly lease payments to NASCO Properties.
- 5.4.8 The duties of the NASCO Properties General Manager to a co-op on Reset Assistance shall consist of:
  - gg. Reviewing all member payment plans and bank reconciliation reports.
    - a. Keeping an accurate, itemized legible record of each member's account, annual budget, fines, utility bills, and other accounts as deemed necessary.
    - b. Serving as financial spokesperson for the co-op in any appropriate situation (dealing with banks, the NASCO Properties board, utility companies, suppliers, etc.)
- 5.4.9 The Board may, on recommendation from the General Manager and NP Treasurer, appoint a Financial Liaison to assist the co-op with the process of Reset Assistance in the management of its finances.
- 5.4.10 The duties of the Financial Liaison shall include at least:
  - hh. Formulating, in conjunction with the co-op Treasurer, NP Treasurer, and/or General Manager, the annual budget for the co-op participating in Reset Assistance.
    - a. Make all co-op bills, bank statements, member leases, active member payment plans, and all other relevant financial materials available for review by the NASCO Properties General Manager and Executive Committee.
    - b. Writing or revising, in conjunction with the NP General Manager,, any deficient financial sections of the co-op's bylaws, policies, leases, or payment plan templates and submit them for final co-op approval.



#### 5.5 Membership Reset

- 5.5.1 A motion to conduct a membership reset shall be introduced to the Board one month prior to voting; the affected co-op shall be notified one month prior to introduction of the motion to the Board.
- 5.5.2 All current and past members wanting to renew leases will have their future leases reviewed and approved by the NASCO Properties General Manager, with all decisions reported to the NASCO Properties board and to all members in good standing of the local co-op.
- 5.5.3 The NASCO Properties board may choose up to two Co-op Coordinators to live in the Co-op. Coordinators shall:
  - c. Serve in their roles for a period of three months, subject to supervision and renewable at the discretion of the NASCO Properties board or General Manager.
  - d. Be trained by the corporate officers and staff.
  - e. Aid all co-op or house officers all throughout their term.
  - f. Report to the Board every two weeks on the status of the co-op.
  - g. Act as House President, facilitate all House meetings, and assist in assigning house jobs or labor assignments.

For all of the above, the House coordinator(s) will be compensated by having any lease, food, and utility charges waived for the duration of their term as Co-op Coordinator.

- 5.5.4 The corporate officers will conduct bi-weekly, one-on-one meetings with the House officers to assess the progress of the House. This will go on as long as the corporate officer thinks it is needed or until the end of the semester.
- 5.5.5 At the end of the term of the Co-op Coordinator's position, a report will be prepared and submitted to the NP Board by the Co-op Coordinator(s) to assess the success or failure of the membership reset. If it is successful thus far, the co-op will return to normal operations. If it has failed thus far, the NP Board will decide what to do at that time.